



## THESIS SYNOPSIS

# Ágnes Makó

The effect of general knowledge and student engagement on vocational school graduates' labour market opportunities

Ph.D. dissertation

# **Supervisor:**

## István János Tóth, Ph.D.

senior research fellow, Institute of Economics, Centre for Economic and Regional Studies of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences (MTA KRTK KTI)

## **Institute of Sociology and Social Policy**

## THESIS SYNOPSIS

# Ágnes Makó

The effect of general knowledge and student engagement on vocational school graduates' labour market opportunities

Ph.D. dissertation

# **Supervisor:**

## István János Tóth, Ph.D.

senior research fellow, Institute of Economics, Centre for Economic and Regional Studies of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences (MTA KRTK KTI)

© Ágnes Makó

# **Table of Contents**

1. Research Background and Relevance of the Topic	4
1.1. Framing of the Problem, Research Question	4
1.2. Hypotheses and Literature Review	5
2. Methods	8
2.1. Data	9
2.2. Models	9
3. Results	11
3.1. General Knowledge	11
3.2. Student Engagement	
3.3. Foreign Language Knowledge	
3.4. Occupational Engagement	14
3.5. Interview Experience	
3.6. Conclusions	16
3.7. Further Directions of Research	
4. References	19
5. List of Relevant Publications	23

## 1. Research Background and Relevance of the Topic

#### 1.1. Framing of the Problem, Research Question

In my dissertation I examine the effect of some factors on vocational school graduates' labour market opportunities. The thesis has two focal points: on one hand the effect of general knowledge and foreign language knowledge; on the other hand the effect of student engagement and occupational engagement of vocational school graduates on their labour market chances is analysed.

In Hungary, young skilled workers' earnings and employment situation has been lagging behind compared to the higher educated population since the Hungarian regime change in 1989-1990. This is a serious problem regarding economy, labour market and social politic aspects. The unfavourable situation can be clearly seen from the high unemployment risk and low average earnings of vocational school graduates compared to general secondary school graduates and to the ones with higher education (Kertesi–Köllő 2001, Kézdi 2004, Kézdi 2007 Kézdi 2008, Köllő 2009, Kertesi–Kézdi 2010, Köllő 2011, Hajdu et al. 2015).

In Hungary, vocational school graduates can be considered as a deprived social group regarding their general knowledge because they start secondary education with a disadvantage of knowledge but their studies in vocational schools are dominated by vocationally specialized subjects. Thus, their lag is worsened by the low quality of general education in vocational schools (Hermann 2013, Hajdu et al. 2015).

Nevertheless, the general knowledge is becoming more and more important on the labour market as accelerating technological progression leads to the change of occupation structure and skill contents (Autor et al. 2003, Koszó et al. 2007, Cedefop 2012).

Therefore, lifelong learning became necessary also for young skilled workers to allow permanent adaptation, the base of which is general education (Csapó 2008). Vocational school graduates may become the losers of this process as vocational schools generally do not prepare students for lifelong learning, thus the disadvantageous situation of their graduates becomes permanent on the long run and probably will be transmitted (Köllő 2006, Kézdi–Köllő–Varga 2008, Csapó 2008, Liskó 2008, Köllő 2009) through generations.

The situation of young skilled workers is a relevant topic not only for its labour economy related considerations, but in a viewpoint of equal opportunities because vocational schools

have become the typical secondary education form of disadvantaged and multiply disadvantaged young people since the Hungarian regime change in 1989-1990 (Liskó 1997, Liskó 2008, Kézdi–Köllő–Varga 2008, Fehérvári 2013), thus the quality of vocational education has a significant effect on the labour market opportunities of this social group.

## 1.2. Hypotheses and Literature Review

Among the numerous factors influencing vocational school graduates' labour market opportunities I examine the effect of four variables that enrich the former sociological knowledge regarding young skilled workers. The novelty of results on general knowledge and foreign language knowledge is that the research focused on the differences *within* the group of vocational school graduates. The analysis of student engagement and occupational engagement is an entirely new viewpoint in sociological literature. Thus, the analysis is built on four preliminary hypotheses.

Hypothesis H1: high level general knowledge improves the labour market opportunities of vocational school graduates.

On one hand, the hypothesis is based on the human capital theory, which says that education improves the participants' productivity and therefore it contributes to their employability and higher earnings (Schultz 1961, Becker 1964, Mincer 1974, Mincer 1981). Besides, international and Hungarian literature contains many examples on the positive effect of general knowledge on employment (e.g. Cörvers et al. 2010, Weber–Falter 2011, Hanushek–Wössmann–Zhang 2011, Hanushek–Wössmann 2012, Stenberg–Westerlund 2014, and on Hungarian data: Köllő 2006, Kézdi 2007, Kézdi 2008, Kézdi–Köllő–Varga 2008, Liskó 2008, Köllő 2009). However, former results are limited to the comparison of the labour market situation (employment, earnings) of young people after finishing general secondary education or vocational school. Nevertheless, it is also an important question whether the level of general knowledge generate a difference in labour market outcomes within the group of vocational school graduates.

As a consequence of technological changes the importance of general skills that are useable in a large scope of duties and knowledge renewal improved in the last decades. Specific skills are becoming obsolete more and more rapidly, hence the long-run employability can be enhanced by stable base skills (*key competences*) (Kézdi 2007, Cörvers et al. 2010, Hanushek–Wössmann–Zhang 2011).

On Hungarian data it was detected (Köllő 2006, Kézdi-Köllő-Varga 2008, Köllő 2009) that the lack of literacy skills and work experience that maintain those skills restricted labour market participation of the low educated (vocational school or lower) social group stronger in the former socialist countries than in Western Europe. Researchers highlight the fact (Köllő 2006, Kézdi-Köllő-Varga 2008, Liskó 2008, Köllő 2009) that learning skills and adaptability of young skilled workers are of key importance regarding labour market opportunities. To achieve these, steady literacy, numerical and social skills are needed (Csapó 2008). A significant drawback of vocational schools is that their curriculum does not spend enough time on developing general skills to support further studies or retraining, which leads to vocational school graduates' vast disadvantage on the labour market (Kézdi-Köllő-Varga 2008, Hajdu et al. 2015). As a consequence of the dominance of specific subjects vocational schools cannot fulfil some important functions of secondary schools, such as transmission of general culture, developing learning and cognitive skills and personality development (Csapó 2008). Learning skills are mostly based on literacy (Csapó et al. 2006), but due to the education neglecting key competences, these skills of vocational school graduates are insufficient. The selectivity of schooling (Csapó 2008, Varga 2009, Hermann 2013) and unsatisfactory compensation methods (Varga 2009) also contribute to this negative effect.

Hypothesis H2: foreign language knowledge (as a specific type of general knowledge) improves the labour market opportunities of vocational school graduates.

Foreign language knowledge being an outstandingly important part of human capital got more and more intense attention in the sociological literature regarding labour market outcomes. Its effects on employability have been increased by the globalization and this tendency is expected to continue in the future. The expansion of international communication and trade and the information based production emphasize the need for foreign language skills and the demand for foreign language knowledge worldwide (Isphording 2014).

The most frequent research area of the effect of foreign language knowledge on labour market status examines immigrants' knowledge of the host country language. Afterwards, researchers started to analyse the effect of foreign language knowledge on labour market outcome among the non-migrant (local) labour force as well. Many papers (Saiz–Zoido 2005, Lang–Siniver 2009, Stöhr 2013, Di Paolo–Tansel 2015) found an advantage in earnings of employees with foreign language knowledge. The results of Donado (2014) based on data from 31 European countries show that foreign language knowledge (especially English and German) has a positive effect on earnings and reduces the risk of unemployment.

Few papers examined the effect of foreign language knowledge on labour market status on Hungarian data and most of them focus on higher education graduates. Galasi, Timár and Varga (2001) found that English and German language knowledge had a positive effect on the earnings of graduates. The results of Galasi and Varga (2005) showed on a sample of higher education graduates that English language knowledge improves the chance of becoming an entrepreneur or continuing further studies. Makó (2015) found on a sample of vocational school and trade school graduates that those young skilled workers who appeared on the labour market and were able to make themselves understood in a foreign language had higher odds to be employed or to continue further studies 9 months after finishing school than their peers.

Hypothesis H3: student engagement improves the labour market opportunities of vocational school graduates.

Besides the above mentioned objective and relatively easily quantifiable factors I also took some softer, more subjective variables into consideration. This is one of the novelties of my thesis regarding the sociological literature examining labour market outcomes.

According to Bourdieu's theory of cultural reproduction (Bourdieu–Passeron 1970), the theory of culture of poverty (Lewis 1966, Boudon 1981) and the theory of counter school culture (Willis 1977, 2000) young people with a disadvantageous social background are less engaged in learning than their middle-class peers, which leads to weaker school performance and worse labour market situation.

I assume that student engagement regarding school and studying is a group of attitudes that has a significant effect on school performance and indirectly on employment opportunities. One of its possible indicators is the involvement in extracurricular activities that has a positive effect on school performance according to some researches (Eccles–Barber 1999, Wang–Shiveley 2009). Kuh et al. (2008) found that in higher education student engagement improves first-year grades and persistence to the second year of college.

With an indirect approach the lack of student engagement can also be examined by indicators of truancy, measured by regular absence from school. Hibbett et al. (1990) found that on the long run (in early adulthood) truancy is associated with lower status occupations, less stable career patterns and more frequent unemployment.

Hypothesis H4: occupational engagement improves the labour market opportunities of vocational school graduates.

While student engagement is a general type of attitudes that can influence vocational school graduates' lifestyle and choices, the relationship with their learned occupation is a more specific case.

The case study of Colley et al. (2003) found that the most important part of vocational education is not the acquisition of technical skills and knowledge (curriculum) but the way that studying constructs and transforms the identity of students ("hidden curriculum"). The specific culture of vocational education and training, i.e. habits, values and expectations form the attitude of students and standardize their norms, creating "vocational habitus". In the course of occupational socialisation students are trained to enter the given segment of the labour market. They have to possess a definite psychological and behavioural combination of dispositions to fit the specific labour market demands.

We can conclude that because the creation of professional identity is a substantive element of vocational education, those students will become the best professionals who went through the most successful identity-formation. This process is probably significantly facilitated when the interests and the talent of the student help him/her to acquire the norms and culture of his/her occupation, in other words, if the student is interested in that particular occupation. Those young skilled workers who are dedicated to the learned occupation probably can better learn specific skills during their education, and after finishing vocational school they tend to broaden and refresh their knowledge in accordance with their interests. Consequently we can assume that more committed young skilled workers do their work at higher quality and are more enthusiastic compared to their peers, which is an advantage at job-seeking. Therefore the labour demand will be higher regarding this group than those vocational school graduates who do their jobs without enthusiasm.

#### 2. Methods

In my thesis I used the convergent parallel design of the mixed (quantitative and qualitative) method therefore the quantitative and qualitative research parts were conducted separately and completed each other (Király et al. 2014). I examined the effect of general knowledge (H1), foreign language knowledge (H2), student engagement (H3) and occupational engagement (H4) on labour market outcomes with quantitative methods, on big sample databases. Some

qualitative characteristics of vocational schools that also have an effect on labour market opportunities were examined by semi-structured interviews.

#### 2.1. Data

H1 and H3 hypotheses were tested on a panel database of the Hungarian Life Course Survey by Tárki and Educatio. The panel survey was conducted from 2006 through 2012 and followed 10,022 young people's career annually for 6 years. The analysis was executed on the data of 1,817 people who participated in the survey for all the 6 years, got a vocational school leaving certificate and answered to the question on labour market status in the last year. To compensate panel erosion and dropout from vocational school weights were used.

H2 and H4 hypotheses were examined on data from the joint research project of the Hungarian Chamber of Commerce (MKIK) and the Institute for Economic and Enterprise Research (MKIK GVI). The survey examines the start of the labour market career of young skilled workers who have finished vocational school or trade school 9 months before the time of the survey. For the analysis I used four waves of the cross sectional data from 2009 through 2012 as a pooled database. The analysis was carried out on the unweighted data of 8,598 young skilled workers who got a vocational school leaving certificate 9 months before the time of the survey.

The qualitative information used in the dissertation is based on one hour long, semi-structured face-to-face interviews that were carried out between April and June 2015 in the framework of the research project of MKIK GVI institute. The interviews were conducted with headmasters, teachers and instructors of vocational schools (28 people). 11 vocational schools in Budapest and in the countryside were involved. The sample design was based on the combination of two types of nonprobability sampling. Deviant case based sampling got a bigger emphasis, thus more extreme cases were involved. Besides, maximum variation sampling (Vicsek 2006) was considered, therefore, according to certain key features a relatively wide range of cases were examined.

#### 2.2. Models

Two types of multivariate analysis were executed on both of the used databases. Effects on the detailed labour market status (subgroups of the active and inactive groups) were examined by multinomial logistic regressions on the subsamples of vocational school graduates. The odds of employment was analysed by binary logistic regressions on the subsamples of vocational school graduates who were active on the labour market.

The effects of general knowledge and student engagement on the chance of employment were tested on multivariate models based on the Hungarian Life Course Survey database. The dependent variable of the labour market status was defined by self-classification of the respondents in the last year of the survey (2012). Two proxy variables of general knowledge were used as independent variables: 8th grade literacy scores of the Hungarian Competence Survey and unweighted average grades of general subjects (mathematics, literature, history, foreign language etc.) in the secondary school. Student engagement was represented by a composite indicator that involved answers to some attitude questions regarding school, teachers and class that were part of the third wave questionnaire of the Hungarian Life Course Survey (most of the respondents were 11<sup>st</sup> graders that time). Besides the main independent variables some control variables were included: gender, Roma origin, highest level of education of the father (mother, if the respondent does not live with his/her father) and an indicator that shows whether the respondent had own books at the age of 14. The model also attempts to separate contextual i.e. institutional effects (Fényes 2008), including a schoollevel value added index motivated by the fact that employment opportunities of vocational school graduates probably are influenced by the quality of the school.

The effects of foreign language knowledge and occupational engagement on employment opportunities were examined on the pooled database of MKIK GVI. The dependent variable of the labour market status was defined by self-classification of the respondents 9 months after finishing vocational school. The independent variable of foreign language knowledge shows whether the respondent reported that he/she was able to make himself/herself understood in a foreign language. Occupational engagement was included by two proxy variables. The first one shows whether the respondent is willing to work in the learned occupation. The second one is a composite indicator computed from four different variables, all of which shows the level of agreement with some statements concerning the learned occupation. Besides, some control variables were included: gender, highest level of education of the father, labour market status of the father. Local labour market effects (Ábrahám–Kertesi 1996, Köllő 1997, Fazekas 2000, Kertesi 2000, Kertesi–Varga 2005, Nemes Nagy–Németh 2005, Lőcsei 2010) were incorporated by the geographical region of the respondents' vocational school. Examining the effect of the primary school grade point average and the vocational school grade point average can be seen as a supplement of the test of hypothesis

H1. Moreover, the models also included control variables on the place of vocational training (Horn 2014a, 2014b), group of occupation and year of finishing vocational school.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. General Knowledge

Results of the multinomial logistic regressions show that 8<sup>th</sup> grade literacy scores have a slight negative effect on employment, unemployment and inactive status compared to further studies. The analysis by competence levels shows that vocational school graduates with at least satisfactory level literacy skills (levels 2-4) had 30 percent lower odds on average of being employed instead of studying and had 40 percent lower odds of being in other inactive status instead of studying, compared to peers with unsatisfactory level literacy skills (levels 0-1).

According to the results, the increase in average grades of general subjects *ceteris paribus* reduces the chance of unemployment and other inactive status significantly, compared to continuing further studies.

Thereafter the effect of general knowledge on employment was analysed by binary logistic regressions on the subsample of vocational school graduates who were active on the labour market. The results show that 8<sup>th</sup> grade literacy scores do not have a significant effect on employment among vocational school graduates who entered the labour market. (Neither continuous scores, nor competence levels had a significant effect.) The increase in average grades of general subjects *ceteris paribus* improved the odds of being employed against being unemployed significantly.

Thus, results suggest that 8<sup>th</sup> grade literacy scores have a positive effect on further studies but they do not have a significant effect on employment on the short run. It is possible that there is too much time between the 8<sup>th</sup> grade test and when the respondents enter the labour market. Accordingly we can assume that the effect could be detectable using 10<sup>th</sup> grade literacy test scores or data on longer term labour market outcomes. The effect of average grades of general subjects is positive and significant in some models. This result is not unambiguous as the indicator can be biased due to the subjectivity of teachers at grading but it rather supports hypothesis H1 than confutes it, hence the rejection of hypothesis H1 is not reasonable.

Assuming that average grades of general subjects have at least a general knowledge component, the results imply that in the group of vocational school graduates who are active on the labour market it can be found that the ones with higher general knowledge have better chances to be employed than their peers with lower grades. This result is in line with international and Hungarian literature (e.g. Cörvers et al. 2010, Weber-Falter 2011, Hanushek-Wössmann-Zhang 2011, Hanushek-Wössmann 2012, Stenberg-Westerlund 2014, and on Hungarian data: Köllő 2006, Kézdi 2007, Kézdi 2008, Kézdi-Köllő-Varga 2008, Liskó 2008, Köllő 2009). Nevertheless, interview experience shows that in Hungarian vocational education specialized subjects are dominant and requirements for students concerning general subjects are extremely low. Most of the interviewed vocational school headmasters and teachers judged general knowledge as an important factor for vocational school graduates but this stays at a low level of calculation, reading and writing used in skilled work, and the aspects of preparing students for lifelong learning are not considered to be important. It is a serious problem in Hungary that students entering vocational schools struggle with a lag brought from primary school studies and learning disabilities. Vocational schools are not able to help solving these problems due to fix curriculum and financial reasons. Moreover, former studies (Hermann 2013, Hajdu et al. 2015) showed that vocational schools add less to students' mathematical and literacy skills than general secondary schools, thus vocational schools deepen the initial lag of their students. This sets a big obstacle against further improvement of knowledge, learning on the job and adaptation to new demands, which leads to a serious labour market disadvantage of vocational school graduates.

## 3.2. Student Engagement

The multinomial logistic regressions examining student engagement did not show any significant effects concerning employment, unemployment or other inactive status compared to further studies.

Binary logistic regressions were used on the subsample of vocational school graduates who were active on the labour market. Results show that a one percent improvement in the indicator of student engagement has a slight positive effect (exp(B)= 1.016) on employment against unemployment. Besides, graduates who got a value of the indicator of student engagement above median, *ceteris paribus* have 1.4-times bigger odds on average to be employed than to be unemployed.

Thus, based on regression results it is probable that student engagement improves the employment chances of vocational school graduates who enter the labour market. This outcome confirms hypothesis H3 and is in correspondence with the few related literature results (Hibbett et al. 1990, Eccles–Barber 1999, Kuh et al. 2008, Wang–Shiveley 2009). On one hand student engagement fosters students' success and performance at school and on the other hand it can be a sign of responsible attitude towards work. These results indicate that the engagement to school and learning can influence employment opportunities not only through school type selection but it has an effect within the group of vocational school graduates as well. The significance of this result is highlighted by my interview experiences implying that student engagement is relatively low among vocational school students, as most of the interviewees referred to truancy as a serious problem and drew attention to the lack of student motivation.

## 3.3. Foreign Language Knowledge

First, the effect of foreign language knowledge on labour market status was examined by multinomial logistic regressions. According to the results foreign language knowledge reduces the odds of employment against studying by 30 percent and it decreases the odds of unemployment against studying by more than 40 percent. This is in line with the results of Galasi and Varga (2005), who found that those higher education graduates who spoke English had bigger chance to become an entrepreneur or continue studies but they had lower odds to be employed or unemployed.

Afterwards, binary logistic regressions were run on the subsample of vocational school graduates who were active on the labour market. Results showed that the effect of foreign language knowledge on labour market status was positive and significant on 1 percent level in every model, which supports hypothesis H2. Logistic models confirmed that those vocational school graduates who entered the labour market and were able to make themselves understood in a foreign language had 1.2-1.3-times higher odds to be employed 9 months after finishing school than their peers. This effect was not modified significantly by involving control variables. The result is in correspondence with the experiences of Donado (2014), according to which foreign language knowledge reduces unemployment risk.

#### 3.4. Occupational Engagement

The effect of occupational engagement on labour market status was examined by multinomial logistic regressions. Results show that those young skilled workers who reported higher level occupational engagement *ceteris paribus* had 1.14-times higher odds of employment against studying on average than their peers with lower level of occupational engagement. The higher level occupational engagement reduces the odds of unemployment against studying by 20 percent on average if the other factors are kept constant.

Results of binary logistic regressions run on the subsample of vocational school graduates who were active on the labour market showed that those young skilled workers who were willing to work in their learned occupation had 1.6-1.8-times higher chance to be employed than their peers. The effect has not changed significantly when control variables (school performance, place of vocational training, group of occupation, year of finishing vocational school) were added to the model. The effect of the choice of occupation that fits personal interests on labour market status was positive and significant on 1 percent level in every model. Thus, occupational engagement probably improves the chance of employment against unemployment, which result supports hypothesis H4 and is in line with the results of the case study of Colley et al. (2003).

Models containing the composite indicator of occupational engagement show that those young skilled workers who had a higher value of occupational engagement had 1.4-1.5-times higher odds to be employed than their peers with lower value. The effect of the composite indicator on labour market status was positive and significant on 1 percent level in every model and it was barely weakened by involving control variables. The continuous version of this indicator had a slight positive (1.065-1.085) effect that was significant on 1 percent level in every model. Thus, it can be concluded that among young skilled workers with high level of occupational engagement the chance of being employed 9 months after finishing school is higher than among those featured by lower level occupational engagement. This result also supports hypothesis H4.

The above mentioned results should be interpreted cautiously because in the case of the database by MKIK GVI retrospective answers may cause endogeneity issues due to the survey design (cross sectional data). It should be considered that the detected effect is partly

<sup>1</sup> Those respondents were categorized as ones with high level occupational engagement who had at least 15 points out of 20 regarding the composite indicator of occupational engagement.

due to an endogeneity bias as the indicators of occupational engagement can be biased by labour market success. However, we can assume that not the whole effect derives from the bias, thus the real effect could be weaker but it probably exists and its direction is likely to be positive. Accordingly, hypothesis H4 cannot be accepted with certainty, but neither be rejected. The results draw attention by all means to the fact that occupational engagement is an important factor that worth further analysis. It could be examined by a panel survey the first wave of which would collect data from vocational school students before finishing school and afterwards it would follow their labour market career.

Therefore, according to the outcomes, occupational engagement, i.e. choosing an occupation matching personal interests and positive attitude concerning the learned occupation probably improves the employment opportunities of vocational school graduates. This implies that soft psychological factors, such as involvement can have significant effect from a sociological point of view, thus they worth further analysis. Results highlight the importance of the choice of occupation and of career orientation in primary education. This is also confirmed by my interview experiences showing that lack of motivation is a significant problem among vocational school students and it can lead to learning problems, behaviour disorders, school failures and dropout. Although the base of motivation level is generally formed during childhood socialisation but choosing the suitable occupation can support it, which can be facilitated by career orientation programmes.

#### 3.5. Interview Experience

Interview experience shows that a high rate of students struggling with significant learning difficulties and weak literacy and numerical skills can be found in Hungarian vocational schools. A significant part of vocational school students has a poor and deprived family background; many of them are coming from extreme poverty.

Some vocational schools have renewed buildings and high quality workshops for training purposes but this could be rare. On the other extreme there are vocational schools with old, unhealthy buildings, inconvenient for education purposes. Most of the state maintained vocational schools have financial difficulties due to the centralised and bureaucratic financing system.

General education in vocational schools usually stays at a low level of calculation, reading and writing used in skilled work, but the aspects of lifelong learning are not considered to be important. Education is typically dominated by vocationally specialized subjects and there are

only minimum requirements for general subjects. Consequently, many young skilled workers leave vocational schools with hardly any literacy skills (Köllő 2011), being unprepared for future learning or re-training (Köllő 2006, Csapó 2008, Kézdi–Köllő–Varga 2008, Liskó 2008, Köllő 2009).

Labour market possibilities of young skilled workers are strongly affected by the local labour demand. In some regions with high unemployment and in small villages the only real possibility for a job is communal employment. In regions with better labour market conditions, in big cities and in some occupations a high rate of graduates can find a job. In some big cities there are multinational companies that offer on-the-job training opportunities specialized for their demands. Vocational school students participating the training can join real production process and they are offered a long term job after finishing school. The advantage of this is getting steady job opportunities; the disadvantage is over-specialization that can limit labour market opportunities outside the given company.

Interview experience shows that the worst financial situation is characteristic among the vocational schools in the small villages of North Hungary, but we observed some similar cases in the most developed central region and in the capital as well. It can be assumed that financial difficulties of schools and students can be detected in vocational schools much more frequently than in general secondary schools – in more and less developed regions as well. This poses significant problems of equality of opportunity as education would be the most suitable tool to rise from poverty (Card 1999, OECD 2015, OECD 2016, on Hungarian data: Kézdi 2004, Kertesi–Varga 2005, Köllő 2006, Kézdi–Köllő–Varga 2008, Köllő 2008, Köllő 2009). The significant financial difficulties of vocational schools bring about further disadvantages for the most deprived social groups (low educated, unemployed, Roma). The children of these families will have less chance to be successful on the rapidly changing labour market than the generation of their parents in a more stable situation, before the Hungarian regime change in 1989-1990. This is expected to lead to the reproduction and worsening of the disadvantageous situation of the most deprived groups of society.

#### 3.6. Conclusions

Based on the results of my dissertation it can be concluded that general knowledge and foreign language knowledge probably have a positive effect on employment opportunities. This contradicts with suppositions as (1) young skilled workers need only specialized knowledge on the labour market and (2) vocational school graduates form a homogenous

group of society. Another important result of the thesis is that it showed the positive effect of student engagement and occupational engagement on employment among vocational school graduates. These subjective factors mean a new approach in sociological literature that worth further analysis.

The results of the dissertation have shown that in vocational schools real professionals should be trained who are involved in their occupation and who possess high level general knowledge preparing them for further learning – instead of emitting low educated workforce capable only for simple skilled work. Those skilled workers have long term opportunities on the labour market that are able to adapt to the continuous changes of technology and organization of work. This needs motivation, flexibility and high level key competences. The continuously renewing requirements of the labour market are making lifelong learning necessary, thus improving skills of knowledge renewal became an important task of the vocational training system. On the other hand the analysis has shown that neither vocational school, nor vocational school students form a homogenous group. Students can be distinguished by their knowledge, motivation level and engagement. The heterogeneity of vocational schools draws attention to the importance of customized treatment.

#### 3.7. Further Directions of Research

In my research I had the opportunity to examine some factors' effect on the labour market situation of vocational school graduates who attended vocational school in the former system of vocational education. In the first 2 years of which the curriculum consisted of mainly general subjects and the second 2 years focused on specialization. However, since 2013 the education system and the vocational education system in particular have undergone radical changes. Compulsory school age was brought down from 18 years to 16 years, the duration of the training have been reduced from 4 years to 3 years and the significance of general subjects was radically cut back to one third of the curriculum time. In the time of the interviews the vast majority of vocational schools had belonged to the Klebelsberg Institution Maintenance Centre (KLIK), but since the summer of 2015 most of them have been in the maintenance of the Ministry of National Economy. Thus, the research should be continued to examine the effects on employment opportunities in the new system of vocational education.

Among the limitations of my analysis it is important to mention the problems concerning the available databases. The database from the Hungarian Life Course Survey contained data of too few young people who attended vocational school and the number of those who were

active on the labour market was even lower. Thus, the relatively small size of the subsample increased the random effect in multivariate analyses. The main methodological problem of the database of MKIK GVI is that it results from a series of cross sectional surveys so retrospective answers may cause endogeneity issues. Consequently, the indicators of occupational engagement can be biased by labour market success.

Furthermore, labour market outcome was indicated as labour market status observed at the moment of the survey. Beyond this approach, a more complex and comprehensive analysis would be possible on a database with more cases. In the case of employees it would be worth to examine some parameters of employment, such as: earnings, full time or part time job, is he/she working under an open-ended or under a fixed-term contract, doing casual work, unskilled work, or working in communal employment.

Moreover, in my analysis I had the chance to examine the first years after entering the labour market, although it is apparent from the literature (Cörvers et al. 2010, Hanushek–Wössmann–Zhang 2011, Weber–Falter 2011) that general skills develop their positive effect on employability on long term.

Taking into account all the above mentioned considerations, for future observation of my research questions a panel survey examining only vocational school students would be ideal. The sample should involve 5000-6000 students and should be representative of the learned occupations and regional distribution. The first wave of this survey would collect data from vocational school students before finishing school. Self-reporting questionnaires would be filled out in the vocational schools, collecting data on family background, primary school and vocational school performance, attitudes towards the school and the learned occupation and plans for the future. Afterwards the survey would follow the labour market career of the respondents annually for 4-5 years by telephone interviews. The short questionnaire would collect information on detailed, monthly labour market situation, such as labour market status, earnings and other parameters of employment. This would enable us to observe the detailed labour market career of vocational school graduates, including labour market events such as employment in the learned occupation on in another field, periods of unemployment, participation in trainings and working abroad.

#### 4. References

- Ábrahám Árpád Kertesi Gábor (1996): A munkanélküliség regionális egyenlőtlenségei Magyarországon 1990 és 1995 között. A foglalkoztatási diszkrimináció és az emberi tőke váltakozó szerepe. Közgazdasági Szemle, XLIII. évf. 7-8. sz., pp. 653–681
- Autor, D. H. Levy, F. Murnare, R. J. (2003): The Skill Content of Recent Technological Change: An Empirical Exploration. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 118(4), November 2003
- Becker, G. S. (1964): Human capital. NBER and Columbia University Press, New York
- Boudon, R. (1981): The Logic of Social Action. Routledge & Kegan Paul, London
- Bourdieu, P. Passeron, J-C. (1990): Reproduction in Education, Society, and Culture. Sage Publications
- Card, D. (1999): The Causal Effect of Education on Earnings. In: Ashenfelter, O. Card, D. (eds.): Handbook of Labor Economics, vol. 5, pp. 1801-1863. North-Holland, New York.
- Cedefop (2012): From education to working life. The labour market outcomes of vocational education and training. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2012 (DOI: 10.2801/92129)
- Colley, H. James, D. Diment, K. Tedder, M. (2003): Learning as becoming in vocational education and training: class, gender and the role of vocational habitus. Journal of Vocational Education & Training, 55 (4). pp. 471-498.
- Cörvers, F. Heijke, H. Kriechel, B. Pfeifer, H. (2010): High and steady or low and rising? Vocational versus general education in life-cycle earnings. Investigaciones de Economía de la Educación, 2010, vol. 5, pp 931-948.
- Csapó Benő Fazekas Károly Kertesi Gábor Köllő János –Varga Júlia (2006): A foglalkoztatás növelése nem lehetséges a közoktatás átfogó megújítása nélkül. Élet és Irodalom, 2006. november 17.
- Csapó Benő (2008): A közoktatás második szakasza és az érettségi vizsga. In: Fazekas K. Köllő J. Varga J. (szerk.): Zöld könyv a közoktatás megújításáért. Ecostat Kiadó, Budapest
- Di Paolo, A. Tansel, A. (2015): Returns to Foreign Language Skills in a Developing Country: The Case of Turkey. Journal of Development Studies, 51(4), pp. 407-421
- Donado, A. (2014): Foreign Languages and their Impact on Income and Unemployment. Beiträge zur Jahrestagung des Vereins für Socialpolitik 2014: Evidenzbasierte Wirtschaftspolitik Session: Norms and Culture, No. F10-V3
- Eccles, J. S. Barber, B. L. (1999): Student Council, Volunteering, Basketball, or Marching Band. What Kind of Extracurricular Involvement Matters? Journal of Adolescent Research, January 1999, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 10-43. doi: 10.1177/0743558499141003
- Fazekas Károly (2000): A külföldi működőtőke-beáramlás hatása a munkaerőpiac regionális különbségeire Magyarországon. Magyar Tudomány, 45. évf. 7. sz., pp. 823-840
- Fehérvári Anikó (2013): Szakiskolások rekrutációja. Educatio 2013/4. szám

- Fényes Hajnalka (2008): Kontextuális hatások a középiskolások eredményességére. Szociológiai Szemle, 18. 3. sz. 3-31.
- Galasi Péter Timár János Varga Júlia (2001): Pályakezdő diplomások a munkaerőpiacon. In: Semjén András (szerk.) Oktatás és munkaerőpiaci érvényesülés. MTA Közgazdaságtudományi Kutatóközpont, Budapest
- Galasi Péter Varga Júlia (2005): Munkaerőpiac és oktatás. MTA KTI, Budapest.
- Hajdu Tamás Hermann Zoltán Horn Dániel Kertesi Gábor Kézdi Gábor Köllő János Varga Júlia (2015): Az érettségi védelmében. Budapesti Munkagazdaságtani Füzetek, BWP 2015/1. MTA Közgazdaság- és Regionális Tudományi Kutatóközpont Közgazdaság-tudományi Intézet és Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Emberi Erőforrások Tanszék, Budapest. <a href="http://www.econ.core.hu/file/download/bwp/bwp1501.pdf">http://www.econ.core.hu/file/download/bwp/bwp1501.pdf</a>
- Hanushek, E.A. Wössmann, L. Zhang, L. (2011): General Education, Vocational Education, and Labour-Market Outcomes over the Life-Cycle. IZA, Institute for the Study of Labour. IZA discussion paper; No 6083. http://ftp.iza.org/dp6083.pdf
- Hanushek, E.A. Wössmann, L. (2012): The economic benefit of educational reform in the European Union. *CESifo economic studies*, March 2012, Vol. 58, No 1, pp. 73-109. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cesifo/ifr032
- Hermann Zoltán (2013): Are you on the right track? The effect of educational tracks on student achievement in upper-secondary education in Hungary. Budapest Working Papers on the Labour Market No. 2013/16, Institute of Economics, Centre for Economic and Regional Studies, Hungarian Academy of Sciences and Department of Human Resources, Budapest University of Economics, Budapest
- Hibbett, A. Fogelman, K. Manor, O. (1990): Occupational outcomes of truancy. British Journal of Educational Psychology, Volume 60, Issue 1, pages 23–36, February 1990. DOI: 10.1111/j.2044-8279.1990.tb00919.x
- Horn Dániel (2014a): A tanoncképzés rövidtávú munkaerőpiaci hatásai. Budapesti Munkagazdaságtani Füzetek, BWP 2014/2. MTA Közgazdaság- és Regionális Tudományi Kutatóközpont Közgazdaság-tudományi Intézet és Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Emberi Erőforrások Tanszék, Budapest.
- Horn Dániel (2014b): A szakiskolai tanoncképzés rövid távú munkaerő-piaci hatásai. Közgazdasági Szemle, LXI. évf., 2014. szeptember
- Isphording, I. E. (2014): Language and Labor Market Success. IZA Discussion Paper No. 8572, Forschungsinstitut zur Zukunft der Arbeit
- Kertesi Gábor Kézdi Gábor (2010): Iskolázatlan szülők gyermekei és roma fiatalok a középiskolában. Beszámoló az Educatio Életpálya-felmérésének 2006 és 2009 közötti hullámaiból. In: Kolosi Tamás-Tóth István György (szerk.): Társadalmi riport 2010. Tárki, Budapest
- Kertesi Gábor Köllő János (2001): A gazdasági átalakulás két szakasza és az emberi tőke átértékelődése Magyarországon. 1986-1999: A bérszerkezet átalakulása. In: Semjén András (szerk.): Oktatás es munkaerő-piaci érvényesülés. MTA Közgazdaságtudományi Kutatóközpont, Budapest.
- Kertesi Gábor Varga Júlia (2005): Foglalkoztatás és iskolázottság Magyarországon. Közgazdasági Szemle, LII. évf., 7–8. sz., 2005. július–augusztus, 633–662. o.

- Kertesi Gábor (2000): Ingázás a falusi Magyarországon. Egy megoldatlan probléma. Közgazdasági Szemle, XLVII. évf., 2000. október (775–798. o.)
- Kézdi Gábor Köllő János Varga Júlia (2008): Az érettségit nem adó szakmunkásképzés válságtünetei. In: Fazekas Károly és Köllő János (Szerk.) Munkaerőpiaci tükör 2008. MTA Közgazdaságtudományi Intézet, Országos Foglalkoztatási Alapítvány, Budapest, 87-136. <a href="http://econ.core.hu/file/download/mt">http://econ.core.hu/file/download/mt</a> 2008 hun/egyben.pdf
- Kézdi Gábor (2004): Iskolázottság és keresetek. In: Fazekas Károly és Varga Júlia (szerk.) Munkaerőpiaci tükör 2004. MTA Közgazdaságtudományi Intézet, Budapest <a href="http://econ.core.hu/doc/mt/2004/hun/Kozelkep.pdf">http://econ.core.hu/doc/mt/2004/hun/Kozelkep.pdf</a>
- Kézdi Gábor (2007): A szakképzés munkaerő-piaci értékének és struktúrájának változása Magyarországon a rendszerváltás előtt és után. OKA Háttértanulmány, Budapest.
- Kézdi Gábor (2008): Nem csupán a rendszerváltás következménye. A szakiskolai képzés hanyatló hozadékai mögött álló okok Magyarországon. In: Fazekas K. (szerk.): Közoktatás, iskolai tudás és munkaerőpiaci siker. KTI Könyvek 9. MTA Közgazdaságtudományi Intézet, Budapest, 2008. 73-96. old. http://econ.core.hu/file/download/ktik9/lepeskenyszer.pdf
- Király Gábor Dén-Nagy Ildikó Géring Zsuzsanna Nagy Beáta (2014): Kevert módszertani megközelítések. Elméleti és módszertani alapok. Kultúra és közösség. 5. évf. 2. sz.
- Koszó Zoltán Semjén András Tóth Ágnes Tóth István János (2007): Szakmastruktúraés szakmatartalom-változások a gazdasági fejlődés tükrében. MKIK GVI, Budapest http://www.gvi.hu/data/papers/KF 2007 2 szakmastruktura 071106.pdf
- Köllő János (1997): A napi ingázás feltételei és a helyi munkanélküliség Magyarországon: számítások és számpéldák. Esély, 2. sz., 33-61
- Köllő János (2006): Workplace Literacy Requirements and Unskilled Employment in East-Central and Western Europe: Evidence from the International Adult Literacy Survey (IALS). Budapest Working Papers On The Labour Market, No. 2006/7, Institute of Economics, Centre for Economic and Regional Studies, Hungarian Academy of Sciences and Department of Human Resources, Budapest University of Economics, Budapest
- Köllő János (2008): Foglalkoztatáspolitikai eszközök az oktatási reformok sikerének előmozdítására. In: Fazekas K. Köllő J. Varga J. (szerk.): Zöld könyv a közoktatás megújításáért. Ecostat Kiadó, Budapest
- Köllő János (2009): A pálya szélén. Iskolázatlan munkanélküliek a posztszocialista gazdaságban. Osiris, Budapest
- Köllő János (2011): Kudarcismétlő szakoktatás. Az úgynevezett szakmunkáshiánytól az úgynevezett duális képzésig. Élet és Irodalom, LV. évfolyam 20. szám, 2011. május 20.
- Kuh, G. D. Cruce, T. M. Shoup, R. Kinzie, J. Gonyea, R. M. (2008): Unmasking the Effects of Student Engagement on First-Year College Grades and Persistence. The Journal of Higher Education, Volume 79, Number 5, pp. 540-563
- Lang, K. Siniver, E. (2009): The return to English in a non-English speaking country: Russian immigrants and native Israelis in Israel. The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis and Policy. 9(1), pp. 1-30

- Lewis, O. (1966): The Culture of Poverty. Scientific American, Vol. 215, No. 4, October 1966
- Liskó Ilona (1997): Hátrányos helyzetű gyerekek a szakképző iskolákban. Educatio, 1997/I. szám, 60-73. old. <a href="http://www.hier.iif.hu/hu/educatio">http://www.hier.iif.hu/hu/educatio</a> reszletes.php?id=50
- Liskó Ilona (2008): Szakképzés és lemorzsolódás. In: Fazekas K. Köllő J. Varga J. (szerk.): Zöld könyv a közoktatás megújításáért. Ecostat Kiadó, Budapest
- Lőcsei Hajnalka (2010): A gazdasági világválság hatása a munkanélküliség területi egyenlőtlenségeire. In: Fazekas Károly Molnár György (szerk): Munkaerőpiaci Tükör 2010 Közelkép: A válság munkapiaci hatásai. MTA Közgazdaságtudományi Intézet Országos Foglalkoztatási Közalapítvány, Budapest
- Makó Ágnes (2015): A szakképzett pályakezdők munkaerő-piaci helyzete és elhelyezkedési esélyei. Közgazdasági Szemle, LXII. évf., 2015. május
- Mincer, J. (1974): Progress in Human Capital Analyses of the Distribution of Earnings. National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper No. 53
- Mincer, J. (1981): Human Capital and Economic Growth. National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper No. 803
- Nemes Nagy József Németh Nándor (2005): Az átmeneti és az új térszerkezet tagoló tényezői. In: Fazekas Károly (szerk.): A hely és a fej. Munkapiac és regionalitás Magyarországon. MTA Közgazdaságtudományi Intézet, Budapest, pp. 75-137
- OECD (2015): Education at a Glance 2015. OECD Indicators, OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2015-en
- OECD (2016): Education at a Glance 2016. OECD Indicators, OECD Publishing, Paris. http://dx.doi.org/10.187/eag-2016-en
- Saiz, A. Zoido, E. (2005): Listening to What the World Says: Bilin-gualism and Earnings in the United States. The Review of Economics and Statistics. 87 (3), pp. 523-538
- Schultz, T. W. (1961): Investment in Human Capital. The American Economic Review, Vol. 51, No. 1. (March 1961), pp. 1-17.
- Stenberg, A. Westerlund, O. (2014): The Long-term Earnings Consequences of General vs. Specific Training of the Unemployed. IZA Discussion Paper No. 8668
- Stöhr, T. (2015): The Returns to Occupational Foreign Language Use: Evidence from Germany. Labour Economics, 32, pp. 86-98
- Varga Júlia (2009): Szakképzés, lemorzsolódás. Új Pedagógiai Szemle 2009. 10. sz.
- Vicsek Lilla (2006): Fókuszcsoport. Osiris, Budapest
- Wang, J. Shiveley, J. (2009): The Impact of Extra-curricular Activity on Student Academic Performance. Office of Institutional Research, California State University, Sacramento
- Weber, S. Falter, J. (2011): General Education, Vocational Education, and Wage Growth over the Lifecycle <a href="http://ssrn.com/abstract=1543906">http://ssrn.com/abstract=1543906</a>
- Willis, P. (1977): Learning to labour: how working class kids get working class jobs. Aldershot: Coger
- Willis, P. (2000): A skacok (Iskolai ellenkultúra, munkáskultúra). Új Mandátum Könyvkiadó és Max Weber Alapítvány, Budapest, 2000

#### 5. List of Relevant Publications

#### **Refereed Journal Articles**

- Makó Ágnes Hajdu Miklós Tóth István János (2016): Szakiskolák, oktatás, szegénység Egy interjús kutatás eredményei. (Vocational Schools, Education, Poverty Lessons from a Qualitative Research) *Esély*, 27. évf. 6. sz.
- Makó Ágnes (2015): A szakképzett pályakezdők munkaerő-piaci helyzete és elhelyezkedési esélyei. (Labour market situation and employment opportunities of young skilled workers) *Közgazdasági Szemle*, LXII. évfolyam, 2015. május
- Makó Ágnes Hajdu Miklós (2014): Pályakezdő szakképzettek a munkaerőpiacon. (Young skilled workers on the labour market) *Szakképzési Szemle*, XXX. évfolyam 1. szám

#### **Conference Presentations**

- Makó Ágnes Hajdu Miklós Tóth István János (2016): Szakiskolák, oktatás, szegénység Egy interjús kutatás eredményei. (Vocational Schools, Education, Poverty Lessons from a Qualitative Research) Magyar Szociológiai Társaság éves vándorgyűlése, Pécs, Zsolnay Negyed, 2016. október 20-21.
- Makó Ágnes (2013): A szakképzett pályakezdők munkaerő-piaci helyzete és elhelyezkedési esélyei. (Labour market situation and employment opportunities of young skilled workers) Magyar Közgazdaságtudományi Egyesület VII. éves konferenciája, Budapest, Közép-európai Egyetem, 2013. december 19-20.

### **Working Papers**

- Makó Ágnes Hajdu Miklós Tóth István János (2016): Szakiskolák, oktatás, szegénység Egy interjús kutatás eredményei. (Vocational Schools, Education, Poverty Lessons from a Qualitative Research) MKIK GVI Kutatási Füzetek, 2016/3. MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Makó Ágnes (2014): A szakképzett pályakezdők munkaerő-piaci helyzete és elhelyezkedési esélyei. (Labour market situation and employment opportunities of young skilled workers) MKIK GVI Kutatási Füzetek, 2014/1. MKIK GVI, Budapest.

#### **Research Reports**

Makó Ágnes – Nyírő Zsanna – Sturcz Anikó (2016): A pályakezdő szakmunkások munkaerő-piaci helyzete – 2016. (Labour market situation of young skilled workers – 2016) MKIK GVI, Budapest.

- Makó Ágnes Bárdits Anna Nyírő Zsanna (2015): A pályakezdő szakmunkások munkaerő-piaci helyzete 2015. (Labour market situation of young skilled workers 2015) MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Makó Ágnes Bárdits Anna Nyírő Zsanna (2014): Általános iskolások pályaválasztása 2014. (Career choices of primary school students) MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Makó Ágnes Bárdits Anna (2014): A pályakezdő szakmunkások munkaerő-piaci helyzete 2014. (Labour market situation of young skilled workers 2014) MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Makó Ágnes Bárdits Anna (2013): A pályakezdő szakmunkások munkaerő-piaci helyzete 2013. (Labour market situation of young skilled workers 2013) MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Makó Ágnes (2012): A pályakezdő szakmunkások munkaerő-piaci helyzete 2012. (Labour market situation of young skilled workers 2012) MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Makó Ágnes (2011): A pályakezdő szakmunkások munkaerő-piaci helyzete 2011. (Labour market situation of young skilled workers 2011) MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Makó Ágnes (2010): A pályakezdő szakmunkások munkaerő-piaci helyzete 2010. (Labour market situation of young skilled workers 2010) MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Makó Ágnes (2009): A pályakezdő szakmunkások munkaerő-piaci helyzete 2009. (Labour market situation of young skilled workers 2009) MKIK GVI, Budapest.
- Fazekas Mihály Tóth István János Makó Ágnes (2009): Milyen szakmát válasszak? Szakiskolai szakmaválasztást támogató tájékoztató füzet. (Which occupation should I choose? Information brochure for supporting the decision-making of vocational school occupations) Magyar Kereskedelmi és Iparkamara, Budapest.
- Fazekas Mihály Makó Ágnes (2008): A szakképző iskolát végzettek iránti kereslet várható alakulása. (Expected labour market demand for vocational school graduates) MKIK GVI, Budapest.